
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE HOUSING SPC 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2. 

 
ON THURSDAY 5 JULY 2018 AT 3.00 PM 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
THURSDAY 5 JULY 2018

  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of meeting dated Thursday 7th June  2017 and matters arising   

 
3 - 6 

2   HAP RAS & Leasing   
 

7 - 48 

3   Review of Housing Strategy - Issues Paper   
 

49 - 70 

4   AOB   
 

 

 





 

HOUSING STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

 

THURSDAY 7TH
 JUNE 2018 

 
 
 

ATTENDANCE 
 

Cllr. Members Officials 

Chris Andrews Brendan Kenny, Assistant Chief Executive 

Janice  Boylan Eileen Gleeson, Director DRHE 

Christy Burke Mary Flynn, Deputy Director DRHE 

Anthony  Connaghan Dymphna Farrell, Senior Executive Officer 

David  Costello Patrick Teehan, Administrative Officer 

Patrick Costello Bernie O'Donoghue Hynes, Head of Research 

Daithi Doolan Holly Morrin, Research Officer 

Pat Dunne  

Alison Gilliland  

Andrew Keegan  

Ray  McAdam  

Críona Ní Dhálaigh  

Cieran Perry  

Éilish Ryan  

Norma Sammon  

Sonya  Stapleton  

   

 External Members 

Aoife Delaney Disability Federation of Ireland 

Aideen Hayden Threshold 

Francis  Doherty Peter McVerry Trust 

Pat  Greene Dublin Simon Community 

Kevin  White Alone 

Jill  Young Irish Council for Social Housing 
 
 
Apologies 
Cllr. Daithi  Doolan 
Cllr. Janice Boylan 
Cllr. Alison Gilliland 
Aideen Hayden - Threshold 
Francis Doherty - PMcVT 
 
Other Cllrs present: 
 
Others: 
 
 
 

Page 3



1. Minutes of meeting dated Thursday 10th May 2017 and matters arising  

 
 

Agreed: Minutes Agreed. 
 

2. Chairperson’s Business: 
 

o Correspondence 
o Update on Sub-Groups 

o Condensation 
 

 
3. Housing Update Reports 

 

a) Traveller Accommodation Report  
 

Agreed: Report Noted. 
 

 
b) Homelessness Report 

 

Bernie O'Donoghue Hynes, Head of Research presented a report on the 2016 
and 2017 Families who experienced Homelessness in the Dublin Region. 
 
Discussion followed. 
 
Members thanked Bernie for the presentation. 
 

Agreed: Report Noted. 
 
 
Homelessness Report 

 
Discussion followed. 
 
 

Agreed: Report Noted. 
 
 

c) Housing Supply Report  
 
 

Discussion followed. 
 

Agreed: Report Noted. 
 
 

4. Motion in the name of Cllr. Cieran Perry 

 

This committee calls on the Chief Executive to desist with the proposal to move 
the Housing Department Caretaker service from a complex based service to a 
Squad Based system as part of the current restructuring of Caretaker services. 
We believe this proposal will lead to a lesser service for our tenants.  
 

Agreed: Motion Carried. 
 

Page 4



 
5. Emergency Motion in the name of Cllr. Patrick  Costello 

That this SPC instructs the manager to maintain the method of 
compiling homeless figures as it had been in February on this year, and 
to maintain this method for at least the next 18 months.  

Agreed: Motion Carried. 
 
 

6. A.O.B. 

 
No Business Conducted. 
 
 
 
Chair thanked all for their attendance, 
 
Cllr. Criona Ní Dhálaigh  
VICE CHAIRPERSON 

Page 5





 HOMELESS HAP SECTION 
DUBLIN REGIONAL HOMELESS 

EXECUTIVE
 

Presentation to SPC 5th July, 2018 

P
age 7



WHAT IS Homeless H.A.P 

 
• If you are homeless and registered as homeless   with one of 

the Dublin Local Authorities, you can apply to the homeless 
section of your local authority to access 

• HAP is a social housing support that allows you to work and or 
attend training and education. You pay rent to the local 
authority that is affordable and based on your income. The 
local authority pays your landlord the market rent. 

 

 

 

P
age 8

http://www.homelessdublin.ie/files/haptenantleaflet


Background  

 
 

• Previous to 2014 individuals and families who wanted to 
access housing on the private rented market could apply for 
Rent Supplement. 

• There were a number of issues with RS – non payment of rent, 
trapped tenants in poverty, low housing standards, top ups to 
landlords, landlords distrusted scheme.  

• The Housing Assistance Payments Scheme   was designed to 
address these inadequacies. It was first piloted in 2014 by 
Limerick County Council. HAP is now operational in every 
county in Ireland, and the national HAP hub is operated out of 
Limerick. 

• Homeless HAP was first piloted in Dublin in 2015 
 

P
age 9



Mainstream HAP vs. Homeless HAP 

• Mainstream HAP is now operational in every county in 
Ireland. They do not pay deposits, they pay rent in arrears and 
have a 20% discretion to use above the set rent caps in an 
area. 

• Homeless HAP was first piloted in Dublin in 2015 and is not 
yet available in any other county. Deposits are covered, rent is 
paid in advance and have a 50% discretion to use above the 
set rent caps in an area. 

 

P
age 10



Eligibility 

• To be eligible for Homeless HAP you must: 

1. Be assessed as having a housing need by one of the four 
Dublin local authorities – (DCC, Fingal, Dun 
Laoghaire/Rathdown, South Dublin) their place on the 
housing waiting list should not be 
deferred/postponed/cancelled etc. 

2.  Be registered as homeless. (have a PASS ID) 

3. Be approved for the Homeless HAP Scheme by your local 
authority. (CPS) 

P
age 11



How does Homeless HAP operate? 

• Once the client has found an agreeable landlord they must 
complete the HAP application form and bring all completed 
documentation into Parkgate Hall.  

• HAP will make an initial payment of a deposit and 2 months 
rent in advance to secure a property, once the relevant 
documentation has been provided. 

• The Homeless HAP section will then process the application 
forms and the HAP hub in Limerick will take over the rent 
payments on the property. 

 

P
age 12



How does Homeless HAP operate? 

• Once Limerick have taken over the rent payments the tenant 
will need to start to pay their weekly differential rent. 

• Differential rent is based on the tenants income. The 
percentage of their income that goes towards rent depends 
on the local authority that they are registered with.  

 

P
age 13



How does Homeless HAP operate? 

• Once someone is in a HAP tenancy it is deemed that their 
housing needs are met. This person is no longer applying for 
social housing, they are applying to transfer from a HAP 
property into local authority housing.  

• Once a person moves into a HAP tenancy it is expected that 
they will stay there for a minimum of 2 years (outside of 
exceptional circumstances). 

 

P
age 14



Benefits of HAP 
• The benefits of the HAP Scheme over other private renting schemes: 
1. Rent paid directly to landlord by the local authority. 
2. Environmental Health Officer will call to inspect tenancy within the first 

6 months. 
3. Tenants are able to find employment without it affecting their rent 

payments to landlord. 
4. More of a buy in from landlords due to security of rent payments & not 

tied into contracts. 
5. Contract is between tenant & landlord and disputes resolved by Rent 

Tribunal Board. 
6. Tenants rent contributions are deducted at source. 
7. Top ups capped – tenant cannot be paying more than 30% of income on 

rent. 
8. Support worker assigned to help set up tenancy. 

 

P
age 15



Movement within local authorities 

• In Homeless HAP it has always been possible for people 
registered in Dublin to move freely within the four local 
authorities for HAP accommodation. 

• Recently there has been a policy change that allows people to 
move to other certain local authorities for HAP 
accommodation.  

• If you are registered on the housing list in Dublin then you can 
move to Kildare, Wicklow, Meath, Galway and Cork city (not 
county) for HAP accommodation without needing to come off 
the Dublin housing list. 

P
age 16



Statistics 

 
 
 

Tenancies DCC DLRCC FCC SDCC 

2015/2016 1259 

2017 1594 893 117 305 279 

Jan 2018 to 
date 

735 393 47 129 166 

Total 3588 1286 164 434 445 

P
age 17



 

HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENT 

 

Presentation to SPC 5th July, 2018 

P
age 18



What is HAP? 

• New form of Social Housing 
 

•Replaces Rent Supplement for households with long-term need 
 

•Housing Authority responsible for all households where housing 
need is determined 
 

•Short term cases stay as Rent Supplement 
 

•Household sources their own accommodation on the basis of 
the HAP rent limits 
 

•Mainstream HAP does not pay deposits or rent in advance 

 

P
age 19



What is HAP? 
 

•HAP payment is paid directly to landlord by Dublin City Council 
on behalf of the tenant.    DCC is not a party to the tenancy 
 

•Once housed through HAP – housing needs are met but HAP 
recipients qualify for social housing support via Transfer List 
 

•HAP tenancy pays differential rent and can work full-time 
 

•Inspection of property to be arranged within 8 months of first 
HAP payment being made to landlord 
 

•602 inspections carried out from 1st March 2017 to May 2018 
on mainstream HAP properties 
 

•226 inspections completed  and compliant with Rental 
Standards 

P
age 20



HAP Maximum Rent Limits from 1st March 2017 

for four Dublin Local Authorities 

1 adult in shared 
accommodation 

Couple in shared 
accommodation 

1 adult Couple Couple or 1 
adult with 1 
child 

Couple or 1 
adult with 2 
children 

Couple or 1 
adult with 3 
children 

€430 €500 €660 €900 €1,250 €1,275 €1,300 
 

P
age 21



Year Housing Authorities 

2014 Cork County Council,  Limerick City & County Council, Waterford City 
& County Council, Kilkenny, Louth, Monaghan, South Dublin 
Homeless HAP 

2015 Donegal, Offaly, Carlow, Clare, Cork City Council, Tipperary, Kildare, 
Meath, Galway County Council, Mayo, Sligo 

2016 Galway City Council, Cavan, Kerry, Laois, Leitrim, 
Longford, Roscommon, Westmeath, Wexford, Wicklow 

1 March 2017 Final Phase:  
Dublin City Council 
Dunlaoghaire-Rathdown 
Fingal County Council 

Roll-Out of HAP 
 

 

HAP was introduced in housing authority areas on a statutory 
phased basis 

P
age 22



Roll-Out of HAP 
• HAP is the largest non-capital programme under Rebuilding 

Ireland 

• Rebuilding Ireland target of 84,000 tenancies due nationally 
by 2021 

• Over 44,897 HAP tenancies have been set up nationally to 
date (including 7,435 closed tenancies) 

• 37,462 households are currently being supported by HAP 
nationally 

• Budget 2018 - €301m 

• Payments to landlords/agents - €28m for June 2018.  
Increasing by €1m per month 

• Monthly differential rent run - €4m per month.           
Increasing by €300,000 per month 

 

 

P
age 23



Mainstream HAP Tenancies 

 
• 1,649 mainstream HAP tenancies have been set up since 1st 

March, 2017 (including 65 closed tenancies) 

 

• 24% of these tenancies are Rent Supplement Transfers 

 

• Formal transfer of Rent Supplement recipients to HAP due to 
commence in 4th Quarter 2018 

 

• RS Transfer process due to be completed by 2020 

 

 

 

P
age 24



Breakdown of DCC HAP Tenancies 
Municipal / LA  Area No. of Active Tenancies % of Total DCC Tenancies 

North Inner City 221 13.9% 

Beaumont-Donaghmede 212 13.4% 

Cabra-Finglas 156 9.8% 

Ballyfermot-Drimnagh 134 8.4% 

Crumlin-Kimmage 121 7.7% 

Ballymun 92 5.8% 

Rathgar-Rathmines 82 5.2% 

Clontarf 80 5.1% 

Kilmainham-Inchicore 38 2.4% 

Pembroke South Dock 36 2.3% 

Fingal County Council 219 13.9% 

South Dublin County 
Council 

131 8.3% 

Dunlaoghaire-Rathdown 17 1% 

Meath, Kildare, Wicklow 
& Cork City Councils 

45 2.8% 

Total Active Tenancies 1,584 100% 

P
age 25



20 

Comparison between Rent 

Supplement and HAP 

 RS 
• Tenant sources own accommodation 
 

 

• DSP considers assistance with 
deposit (means tested) 

 

• Tenant pays landlord 
 
• Tenant  makes contribution towards 

rent 
 

• Maximum of 30 working hours 
 
• On the Housing List  

 

HAP  
• Tenant sources own  
    accommodation 
 

• Local authority does not pay deposit 
 
• HAP SSC pays landlord  
 
• Tenant pays differential rent  (income 

based rent contribution) 
 
• Can work full-time 
 
• Housing need is met.  Tenant moves to 

Transfer List 

 

 

 

P
age 26



Shared Services Centre,  

Limerick City & County Council 

•Formally awarded contract in 2016 following a bidding 
process 

 

•Manage HAP landlord and tenant transactions for all 31 local 
authorities 

 

•Manage tenant debt recovery process 

 

•HAP data management and analytics 

 

P
age 27



Rental Accommodation 
 Scheme 

(RAS )  
 

Presentation to SPC 5th July, 2018 

 

P
age 28



Overview 

•    The RAS Scheme was announced by Government as a new  
    Housing  initiative in the Year 2004 
 
•   LA’s enter into direct contracts with landlords to secure 
their properties for a minimum of 4 years 
 
•  Dublin City Council implemented the RAS Scheme in  2006 
 
•  DCC pays the Rent directly to the Landlord ( 92% Market 
Value) 
 
•  The RAS tenant pays a differential rent to DCC 
 

P
age 29



Who Qualifies for RAS 

 

 • Eligibility 
 

• Applicant is in receipt of a Rent  Supplement ( RS ) 
  payment from the DSP for at least 18  months 

 
• Assessed as eligible for Social Housing Support 

  
• The RAS property must satisfy applicants  housing 

   requirement 

P
age 30



Benefits of the Scheme to 

Tenants 

•   Pays Differential Rent under the LA’s Differential Rent 
    Scheme 
 
•   Long Term Housing Security 
 
•   Can continue in the Scheme if employed 
 
•  Access to good quality rented accommodation 
 
•  Local Authority responsible for re-housing the Tenant 

P
age 31



Benefits of the Scheme to 

Landlords 

• Prompt  rental payments directly from Local Authority 
 
•   No rent  collection  or  arrears management  
 
•   No advertising costs 
 
•   No vacant periods  

P
age 32



Landlord 

Responsibilities  

•   Accommodation must comply with Housing (Standards for Rented 
    Houses) Regulations 2017 
 
•   Key “ Landlord & Tenant ” relationship remains between the 
    Landlord /Tenant as governed by the Residential Tenancies Acts.  
 
•   Landlord must register their tenant and the property with the 
    Private Residential Tenancies Board ( PRTB ) 
 
•   Routine Maintenance/Repair  
 
•  Dealing with any breaches of the RAS Tenancy Agreement – 
   (e.g.. Tenant Issues)  

P
age 33



DCC  Responsibilities  

•   Procurement of additional  RAS properties 
 

•   Ensuring compliance with standards for private rented 
 accommodation 
 
•   Allocation of RAS properties 
 
•   Managing RAS transfers 
 
•   Rent Assessment & Collection 
 
•   Arrears Management 
 

 

P
age 34



RAS Statistics 

Current No. of RAS Tenancies-  1202 
     Central Area   (285) 
      North West     (213) 
      North Central (296) 
      Sth Central     (374)   
      Sth East          (34 )   

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Year  Number of RAS Tenancies 

2013 1507 

2014 1479 

2015 1436 

2016 1366 

2017 1266 

2018 1202 

P
age 35



Main Challenges for RAS 

•     Number of Landlords leaving the Scheme 
                Reasons Cited: 

•  Selling the Property 
•  Family Member/ Owner Occupation 
•  Major Refurbishment Works 
 

•    RPZ Legislation:  
•Dublin was designated a Rent Pressure Zone on 24th 
December, 2016 
•Rent Increases to Landlords subject to a 4% maximum 

 
•       Sourcing Additional Properties 
   

 .   

 

 

P
age 36



Long Term Leasing 
 

Presentation to SPC 5th July, 2018 

 

P
age 37



Long Term Leasing 

 
• Feb 2009 DECLG introduced the long term leasing initiative.  

• Facility to lease properties  from private owners  to provide 
social housing . 

• Suitable  vacant properties leased for  10 or 20 years 

P
age 38



Lease Terms 

 
• Rent to landlord  negotiated at 80% of market rent 

• Where a Management Company exists 85% of market  

  rent 

• Rent Reviews  every two years on 10 year leases and every 4 
years on 20 year leases  ( linked to CPI index) 

• Dublin City Council responsible  for day to day property 
maintenance 

• Landlord responsible for structural repairs 

 

P
age 39



 Benefits to Landlord 

 
• Guaranteed Rental Income 

• No  management of Tenants 

• No rent or arrears collection 

• No maintenance of the property ( after the first six months of  
the lease) 

• No requirement to register  with the RTB 

• No advertising or administration fees. 

P
age 40



Dublin City Council’s responsibilities 

under the terms of the lease 

 
• Day to day property maintenance for the term of the lease 

• Allocation of the property  

• Rent assessment and rent collection 

• Estate management 

• Tenancy support 

 

 

P
age 41



Owners responsibilities under the 

terms of the lease 

 
• Structural insurance 

• Structural maintenance and repair 

• Payment of management  company service charges where 
they apply. 

• Payment of LPT. 

P
age 42



Types of properties leased 

 
• New and existing vacant properties in good condition 

• Houses and apartments 

• Single or multiple units 

• All properties must comply with Housing ( Standards for 
rented Houses) Regulations 2017 

 

 

P
age 43



Current Leasing Statistics 

 
• Currently Dublin City Council has 93 long term leases  

•  Further 26 leases are in progress. 

• A number of proposers with potential to supply a significant 
number of properties have recently declared an interest in the 
scheme.  

 

 

 

P
age 44



New Enhanced Lease 

• New Enhanced Long Term Social Lease launched in January 
2018 

• Social Housing Leasing Targets 10,000 to 2021 

• Managed & administered by the Housing Agency 

• Objectives: 

– Ramp up scale of delivery 

– Target newly built/yet to be built homes 

– Target investors who can deliver  at scale 

– Secure social housing  accommodation  

 

 

        

P
age 45



Main Features of Enhanced Lease 

• Lease term is 25 years 

• Local Authority (the lessee) pays up to 95% of market rent 

• Rent indexed every 3 years based on the Harmonised Index of 
Consumer Prices (HICP) 

• Lessor obliged to provide Management Services for the 
properties 

• Local Authority (LA) is the landlord to the tenant and collects 
differential rent 

 

P
age 46



 Compared to current lease 

Detail Current Lease Enhanced Lease 

Minimum No Properties 1 20( in any one LA) 

Percentage Mkt Rent 80-85% 95% 

General maintenance Local authority Lessor 

Term 20 years 25 years 

Penalites N/A For maintenance failure 

Landlord to tenant Local authority Local authority 

P
age 47



Local Authority Role 

• Central Role 
– Confirm Suitability for  Social Housing 

– Confirm Appropriateness of Scale and Mixed Tenure 

–  Accept/Agree proposed Rents 

–  Inspect/Sign Off the properties for delivery 

– Lease Signed by LA 

– Rent Payments to Lessors 

– DCC is Landlord to the tenants 

– Administer operation of the Management Services 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 48



1 

 

 

 

 

Forthcoming Review of Dublin City 

Council’s Housing Strategy (2016-2022):  

Context, Key Issues and Outline Approach 
 

 

 

Paper for consideration by Dublin City Council Housing Strategic Policy Committee 

July 5th 2018 

 

  

Page 49



2 

 

Summary 

 

This paper provides context and identifies key issues for the forthcoming review of Dublin 

City Council’s housing strategy and sets out an outline approach for same. It gives an 

introduction to summary details on Dublin city’s overall housing strategy to 2022 as adopted 

under the Dublin City Development plan 2016-2022. It details the role the housing strategy 

plays in helping determine planning and investment decision-making for urban residential 

development in Dublin city as well setting out the principles that inform and guide the 

overall core strategy of the development plan related to housing.  

 

The paper then presents a short assessment of the outputs achieved to date by Dublin city 

as a housing authority under its housing strategy before then giving an overview of the core 

content set out in the housing strategy. Following this, the paper then turns to the issue of 

the planning framework and spatial policy issues impacting on residential development in 

Dublin. 

 

Given the complexities that can arise when interrogating the scope and scale of the 

legislative, policy and spatial planning frameworks that impact, direct and support Dublin 

city’s housing strategy, the paper proposes to distil three distinct ‘headline thematic issues’ 

to allow for the forthcoming review of the housing strategy to proceed successfully. These 

headline thematic issues are mutually interdependent and supporting. They are proposed in 

order to allow for the introduction of new thinking and new evidence that can be brought to 

bear in the decision-making process that will be required at the conclusion of this review 

period for Dublin city’s housing strategy. These are as follows: 

 

Thematic issue 1:  Land for Housing 

Thematic issue 2:  Making Places for People 

Thematic issue 3:  New Affordable Housing 

 

Under each thematic issue, a set of core questions are posed to allow for investigation and 

evidence to be collated and returned to elected members in order to support decision-

making arising from the review of the city’s housing strategy. 

 

The paper concludes with suggested approaches to undertaking this review including new 

primary data analysis on Dublin’s demography and population projections and on housing 

affordability issues in rental and owner-occupied housing tenures. The newly established 

Dublin Housing Observatory (DHO) will work collaboratively with Housing and Planning 

departments and members of the Housing and Planning Strategic Policy Committees to 

support the review. It will lead on key tasks of data and analysis as required to deliver a 

successful and timely review.  

Page 50



3 

 

1. Introduction to Dublin’s Housing Strategy to 2022 

 

Quality, affordable housing provision plays a key role in underpinning and maintaining 

economic growth and competitiveness for Dublin city. Significantly, there is a pressing need 

to ensure a speedy, effective and sustainable step-up in future housing supply to catch-up 

with the overheating segments of Dublin’s housing market and thereby reduce price 

inflation in owner-occupied and rental housing tenures. Additionally, the scale of unmet 

housing needs has grown over the period of the previous and current city development plan 

and requires an increase in housing output for social rental. The experience of homelessness 

in Dublin has also broadened over the period as the extent of demand for emergency 

accommodation deepens and strengthens. 

 

The provision of Dublin’s housing also requires attention to the policies and core strategy of 

the development plan. These policies advanced the delivery of quality dwellings at higher 

densities to help create and help maintain a consolidated urban form that fosters the 

development of compact city neighbourhoods. In turn compact neighbourhoods help 

ensure a critical mass that contributes to the viability of local residential infrastructure, 

particularly as it relates to local social, economic, amenity, cultural and transport 

infrastructures. 

 

The Dublin City Housing Strategy 2016 – 2022 has three core principles that inform and 

guide the overall core strategy of the development plan related to housing. These are: 

1. To ensure the provision of good quality housing across owner-occupied and rental 

housing tenures in sustainable communities,  

2. To ensure the planning and building of housing and residential space in the city 

contributes to sustainable and balanced development, and  

3. To ensure adequate provision of social rental housing for households unable to 

afford housing from their own resources. 

 

In addition to these core principles, Dublin’s Housing Strategy will support the overall 

implementation of the core strategy of the Dublin City Development Plan 2016 – 2022 by: 

 

 Supporting the regional settlement strategy which seeks to re-balance future growth 

in the region and consolidate development in the metropolitan area;  

 Providing for an appropriate quantity and quality of residential accommodation 

incorporating sustainable densities and designs; 

 Engaging in active land management through the Dublin Housing Supply Co-

ordination Taskforce and working closely with key stakeholders, including NAMA;  

Page 51



4 

 

 Providing for a variety of housing typologies and tenures which are adaptable, 

flexible and meet family needs and the changing needs of people throughout their 

lives; 

 Providing for the right quantity of appropriate housing in the right locations that is 

accessible and affordable for all residents of the city through the implementation of 

the housing strategy; 

 Providing for the creation of attractive mixed use sustainable neighbourhoods which 

benefit from the phased delivery of supporting infrastructure. 

 

2. Outputs to date under Dublin’s Housing Strategy 

Since the adoption of the city’s housing strategy under the overall City Development Plan 

2016-2022, in-roads towards tackling Dublin’s housing crisis have been made and progress 

achieved. Data presented to Dublin City Council earlier this year (February, 2018) confirms a 

year-on-year increase over the period 2015 to 2017 in our provision of housing options that 

have resulted in lettings to eligible households on our social housing waiting list. Over the 

reference period, provision of lettings rose from 1,689 (in 2015) to 2,415 (in 2016) and to 

4,373 (in 2017). The total for lettings over the period is 8,477 households (see Table 1). 

 

 

The primary source of new lettings is private rental housing registered under the Housing 

Assistance Payment (HAP) Scheme. This represents 42 percent of all lettings over the period 

and demonstrates the extent of continued reliance on Dublin’s private rental sector to 

Page 52



5 

 

deliver a social housing option for households in need. The remaining balance comprises 

34.5 percent of lettings being social tenancies in renovated and retrofitted public housing 

units restored to use and 23 percent of lettings being social tenancies in new build public 

housing units arising from Part V agreements, our Rapid Build Housing programme and 

completions of new developments in each respective year over the period. Notably, only 

one in four of the total 8,477 lettings achieved over the period were for a newly constructed 

social housing dwelling  

 

Future housing supply is picking up, but in terms of increased effective demand supply 

remains slow. This can be illustrated by the large gap between the quarterly total of 

permitted residential developments in Dublin City since 2016 and the rate of 

commencements. Table 2 (below) gives data for the period quarter 1, 2016 to quarter 4, 

2017 as collated by the Dublin Housing Taskforce.  

 

 
 

Under the provisions of Part 8 of the Planning and Development Act (2000) (as amended) a 

total of 455 new social residential units have also been permitted alongside 7,055 student 

bed-spaces have been permitted (see Tables 3 and 4). In addition, over the period since 

2016 a total of 179 ‘Rapid Build’ units of housing have been delivered.  

Page 53



6 

 

 

 
 

The most recent data for quarter 1, 2018 from the Dublin Housing Taskforce shows a 

continued but slow improvement in near future supply of residential development. For 

example 2,042 houses and 8,885 apartments were permitted for Dublin city during quarter 

1, 2018 while 486 houses and 87 apartments were completed and 676 houses and 2,019 

apartments were under construction1. 

 

Dublin’s near future housing supply therefore remains inadequate and imbalanced. There is 

not yet sufficient affordable housing provision for rental or for owner occupation. Dublin 

needs to boost its affordable housing supply across all tenures and work to fast-track its 

planning and its provision using today’s new construction methodologies that can speed 

development and housing delivery to the quality standard required. Dublin also needs to 

deliver greater access to affordable housing across all housing tenures. These issues will be 

to be fore as we undertake the review of the city’s housing strategy2. 

 

3. Overview of the key content in Dublin City Development Plan 2016-

2022 in relation to the Housing Strategy to 2022 

 

Dublin’s Housing Strategy contains a substantial range of policies and objectives to be 

achieved over the period to 2022. In sum, a total of 35 policy objectives are articulated by 

the Housing Strategy (these are set out in full in Annex A). In addition, the city’s housing 

strategy contains the following key content: 

 

 The legislative and policy content for Dublin’s Housing Strategy: 

The provision of quality homes which provide for the needs of the city’s 

population and which contribute to the production and maintenance of 

                                                           
1
 Not included in this data are sites where a planning permission has been lodged with Dublin city and is not 

yet decided upon, or is within the permitted period of 4 weeks of the date of the decision of the planning 
authority, or is the subject of an appeal to An Bord Pleanála. 
2
 Dublin City Council notes the important work of the EU Committee of the Regions and Housing Europe 

(amongst others) who continue to argue for a review of the EU Commission’s decision of 2012/21/EU that will 
allow for a broadening of access to social housing beyond “disadvantaged citizens or socially less advantaged 
groups”. 

Page 54



7 

 

sustainable, affordable, accessible and connected neighbourhoods is a key 

priority of Dublin’s development plan. The social and economic context for 

the delivery of this key priority has changed and evolved over the period 

since 2008. Consequently, so too has the relevant legislative basis and policy 

framework. This section identifies the key legislative and policy instruments 

relevant to the delivery of Dublin’s housing strategy. 

 

 Dublin’s population trends: 

This section reviews the changes in Dublin’s population and includes findings 

on the change in Dublin population over the period since 1991 to the 

present. It notes that while Dublin city’s overall share of the population in the 

Greater Dublin Area (GDA) has declined, the inner city of Dublin has seen 

strong population growth. It notes that Dublin has a higher old-age 

dependency ratio than the GDA average and the lowest young-age 

dependency ratio. Also noted is the fact that Dublin has a smaller average 

household size than the GDA average while approximately one third of 

Dublin’s households are comprised of child dependents. 

 

 Dublin’s changing housing trends: 

This section reviews changes in Dublin’s housing tenure patterns and takes 

account of how owner-occupation is in decline while a parallel growth in the 

number of households who rent is underway. The dynamics of housing 

supply over the period since 2000 are considered here as too are changes in 

Dublin’s mortgage market during the period up the great financial crisis in 

2008 and the subsequent post-crisis period to present. Analysis of the trends 

in zoned land and planning permissions for new housing supply in Dublin is 

also included.  

 

 

 Projection of new housing requirements for Dublin to 2022: 

This section contains the projected housing demand in Dublin city over the 

lifetime of the city development plan. The projection is based on data derived 

from the Regional Planning Guidelines for the Greater Dublin Area 2010 – 

2022 as well as data from the CSO and other relevant sources. An enhanced 

version of the standard housing affordability model established under 

Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government guidelines is relied 

on to provide projections for net social housing requirements. The City 

Development Plan Core Strategy has a target to provide 4,200 new housing 

units per annum up to 2022, plus up to 3,000 social rental units. 

 

Page 55



8 

 

 

 Extent of social housing requirements and options for delivery in Dublin to 2022: 

This section contains details on the extent of social housing requirements and 

options for delivery. The extent of social housing required in Dublin is 

illustrated by the number of households who have been assessed as being 

eligible for social housing under Dublin City Council’s scheme of letting 

priorities. Notably, this section contains a ‘stock-flow’ analysis that estimates 

how the provision of new dwellings can be combined with casual lettings 

from within existing stock to illustrate how the projected extent of unmet 

social housing need is impacted by future planned new housing supply.  

 

4.  Dublin city’s housing strategy in context of recent legislative, policy and 

spatial planning changes 

 

Government’s existing action plan for housing and homelessness, Rebuilding Ireland (July 

2016) commits to increasing overall housing supply to an annual baseline level of 25,000 by 

2020. Yet in order to address the supply deficit built up since 2010, this output will now be 

required to increase to between 30,000 and 35,000 units annually from 2020 to 2027. 

Consequently, under Ireland’s new National Development Plan (NDP) 2018-2027 (launched 

in February 2018) housing and sustainable urban development is the primary strategic 

investment priority.  

 

Under the new NDP, public capital expenditure amounting to €14.5 billion is committed to 

support the delivery and location of these new homes. Of this, at least €11.6 billion will be 

provided for investment in social housing to deliver 112,000 new social housing units. In 

addition, €2bn is allocated for an Urban Regeneration and Development Fund to promote 

co-ordinated investment in the renewal and redevelopment of urban space. Alongside this, 

the NDP recognises that the co-ordinated and efficient provision of enabling infrastructure 

and services on publicly owned sites is central to leveraging the value of the land to provide 

for mixed-tenure and mixed-income housing.  

 

Ireland’s NDP is accompanied by a new National Planning Framework (NPF) to 2040 

(together known as Project Ireland 2040). More compact, higher-density residential urban 

spaces are required under the NPF. This means local authorities must set down the housing 

land requirements to provide for delivery of sufficient public and private housing in the 

locations and of the types that people need and at prices and rents people can afford. 

Importantly, the NPF recognises how the majority of social housing need arises in cities and 

towns. It also recognises how housing provision requires integration with high quality public 

and sustainable transport systems and supporting amenities. The NPF brings a particular 

Page 56



9 

 

focus on brownfield and infill development, targeting derelict and vacant sites that have 

fallen into disuse. This includes public land zoned for housing and for urban regeneration. 

 

Both the NDP and NPF reinforce that central to achieving compact growth is the 

management and building up of a reserve of development land for public and private 

housing, for transport infrastructure and for supporting amenities. This is especially relevant 

for Dublin City Council where our active land management is key to using and developing 

land in public and private ownership that will embed affordability into housing supply and 

allow land value capture to help fund infrastructure.  

 

Figure 1 (below) gives an overview of the Irish planning system and allows us locate the 

city’s housing strategy within this overall context. Under the overall National Planning 

Framework an important ‘next tier’ is the Regional Spatial and Economic Strategies (RSES). 

This is being developed and delivered for the Dublin area by the Eastern and Midland 

Regional Assembly (ERMA) and is due for adoption by the 38 members of the EMRA by end 

of 20183. 

 

Figure 1 

 
 

                                                           
3
 The 38 elected members of the Regional Assembly are predominantly nominated by their local authorities to 

represent the region. One of their key tasks is to prepare a new Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy (RSES) 
to replace the existing Regional Planning Guidelines (RPGs) with additional functions requiring an economic 
strategy to be combined with the spatial strategy. The RSES will support the implementation of national 
government policies such as the emerging National Planning Framework (NPF) and will also set the framework 
for local economic development and spatial planning in each of the 12 local authorities in the region. The 
process for making the new Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy has now begun with the publication of the 
Issues Paper to inform the initial consultation period. See here for more information http://emra.ie/rses/  

Page 57

http://emra.ie/rses/


10 

 

The RSES will support the implementation of Project Ireland 2040 - National Planning 

Framework (NPF), by the Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government’s (DHPLG) 

and will set out a long-term spatial planning and economic framework for the Region in 

accordance with the economic policies of the Government and the proper planning and 

sustainable development of the region for a period of 12 to 20 years.  

 

Another sub-RSES ‘tier’ in the spatial planning hierarchy is forthcoming and imminent and 

arises from national policy objective 67 of the NPF 2040. This states that: 

 

“Provision will be made for Metropolitan Area Strategic Plans (MASPs) to be 

prepared for the Dublin, Cork, Limerick, Galway and Waterford Metropolitan areas 

and in the case of Dublin and Cork, to also address the wider city region, by the 

appropriate authorities in tandem with and as part of the relevant Regional Spatial 

and Economic Strategies” 

 

This new tier for spatial planning (MASPs) will align with and inform national-level sectoral 

investment plans to guide and co-ordinate investment within the metropolitan areas. In line 

with the RSESs, the MASPs will be provided with a statutory underpinning to act as 12-year 

strategic planning and investment frameworks for the city metropolitan areas, addressing 

high level and long term strategic development issues. Each MASP will set out a clear and 

concise strategy to: 

 

 Identify the key change parameters for the city in question i.e. population, 

employment, 

 housing, retail, travel patterns and key renewable, development and amenity areas; 

 Work out a sequence of infrastructure prioritisation, delivery and co-ordination; and 

 Deliver compact regeneration and growth 

 

The MASP plan making process offers an opportunity for enhanced spatial coordination of 

land use planning and strategic infrastructure delivery across the seven local authorities in 

the Dublin metropolitan area. It is anticipated that the preparation of a development 

strategy for the Dublin MASP will support the relevant City and County Development Plans 

to address infrastructure deficits and unlock the growth potential of key strategic 

development sites within the metropolitan area, in line with overall population and 

employment targets as set out in the accompanying RSES and NPF.  

 

The Dublin MASP will be prepared in tandem with and as part of the plan making and 

adoption process for the RSES, which is a reserved function of the elected members of the 

Regional Assembly. It is anticipated that a draft MASP for Dublin will issue for consideration 

by elected members from September 2018. 

Page 58



11 

 

The next ‘tier’ below the MASP for Dublin is the established city development plan. The core 

strategy aims of Dublin’s city development to 2022 which relate to new housing and 

population (i.e. settlement strategy) are generally delivered through revisions to land use 

zoning and also Strategic Development and Regeneration Areas (SDRAs). There are 18 

SDRAs overall in Dublin’s current city development plan. In some cases the SDRAs overlap 

with and include Local Area Plans (LAPs) and Strategic Development Zones (SDZs) – both of 

which have a statutory profile with the overall city development plan. The focus of SDZs is 

on fast tracking delivery of higher density development in sustainable locations i.e. close to 

higher frequency public transport and quality amenities. Dublin has 3 SDZs namely Poolbeg 

West, Grangegorman and North Lotts/ Grand Canal Dock. 

 

Other important statutory plans attached to the city development plan is Local Economic 

and Community Plan (LECP) 2016-2021 adopted by Dublin City Council in 2015 and the 

Homeless Action Plan 2017- 2020 (HAP)4. The HAP is led by the Dublin Region Homeless 

Executive (DRHE) and is region wide in scope taking account of the needs of the homeless 

population in all Dublin’s local authorities and setting out the strategic aims and action areas 

on homelessness for Dublin’s local authorities5. 

 

 

5. The ‘headline thematic issues’ proposed for inclusion in the review of 

Dublin city’s Housing Strategy. 

 

Given the complexities that arise when interrogating the scope and scale of legislative, 

policy and spatial planning frameworks that impact, direct and support Dublin city’s housing 

strategy, it is proposed to distil three distinct ‘headline thematic issues’ to allow for the 

review of the housing strategy to proceed successfully. These headline thematic issues are 

mutually interdependent and supporting. They are proposed in order to allow for the 

introduction of new thinking and new evidence that can be brought to bear in the decision-

making process that will be required at the conclusion of this ‘review period’ for this city’s 

housing strategy. 

 

Under each thematic issue, a set of core questions are posed to allow for investigation and 

evidence to be collated and returned to elected members in order to support decision-

making arising from the review of the city’s housing strategy. 

 

 

                                                           
4
 See here: http://www.dublincity.ie/LECP  

5
 The Homeless Action Plan for the Dublin Region for the next period is under finalisation among partners and 

statutory agencies and is due for presentation and adoption by the Dublin local authorities in quarter3, 2018. 
See here for more: https://www.homelessdublin.ie  

Page 59

http://www.dublincity.ie/LECP
https://www.homelessdublin.ie/


12 

 

Thematic issue 1:  Land for Housing 

 

The total zoned land for Dublin City Council area is currently 10074 hectares (ha). Within 

this 3,793 ha are zone Z1 for residential development (general) and 693 ha are zoned Z2 for 

residential development (conservation areas), giving a total of 4,486 ha or approximately 

44.7 percent of all zone land. In addition, there are a number of land use zonings summing 

to 2,624 ha that also allow for residential development to some extent (i.e. either 

permissible or open for consideration in certain circumstances). These include the following 

zonings: 

 

Z3 Neighbourhood Centres    61 ha (0.6 percent of total) 

Z4 District Centres (mixed use)   199 ha (2 percent of total) 

Z5 City Centre (mixed use)    243 ha (2.5 percent of total) 

Z6 Employment/ Enterprise (light)   607 ha (6 percent of total) 

Z8 Conservations Areas  

(40 percent commercial use)    85 ha (0.8 percent of total) 

Z10 Inner Suburb (mixed use)    60 ha (0.6 percent of total) 

Z12 Institutional Land     108 ha (1.1 percent of total) 

Z14 Strategic development and Regeneration Areas 

(mixed use)      501 ha (5 percent of total) 

Z15 Institutional and Community Land for 

Long-term Institutional Use    760 ha (7.5 percent of total) 

 

Land use zonings for industrial use where no residential development is allowed amounts to 

971 ha (9.5 percent of total). 

 

Core questions: 

 

1. In Dublin City Council, is there sufficient land for housing development over the 

period of the city development plan (to 2022) and further out to longer-term 

horizons as envisaged under the MASP (12 years) and the NPF (to 2040)? 

1.1 What changes in land use zoning can be identified that would increase land 

for residential development in Dublin within sustainable distances from 

employment and community facilities? 

1.2 What changes in land use policy for residential development in Dublin will 

ensure quality densification and compact growth for Dublin? 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



13 

 

Thematic issue 2:  Making Places for People 

 

The provision of quality, affordable housing in places that are sustainable connects Dublin’s 

ambitions to be a great place to live, work and learn with a wide range of fundamental 

policies and issues, for example: 

 

 To our ability to deliver social rights; 

 To our ability to accelerate our energy transition to low carbon and near zero energy 

dwellings that help tackle the drivers of climate change;  

 To our ability to produce greater cohesion in our societies and to reduce social 

segregation; 

 To our ability to deliver better and more public services in an integrated and 

sustainable way that ensures access and prioritises quality, and; 

 To our ability moderate large macro-economic imbalances in our economy caused by 

housing boom bust cycles and thereby improve our competitiveness. 

 

Making places for people means we need to unlock housing investment in general and in 

particular towards secure, quality affordable housing so that we can reduce the worst 

aspects of our dysfunctional housing market. We can reap the rewards that cascade from 

the established economic return on our housing investment where it has been shown that 

for every €3 we invest to improve housing conditions the return on investment is €2 in 

terms of secondary benefits arising from employment and economic growth. 

 

Making places for people does require meeting the ‘Living City’ challenges of residential 

development that produces mixed tenure development accompanied by mixed income 

communities where scale, standards and density are maximised within statutory limits. For 

example, Dublin’s apartment standards set out in the Development Plan have been 

superseded by the DHPLG ‘design standards for new apartments Guidelines for Planning 

Authorities’’ issued in March 2018. These reduce the floor area requirements, and alter the 

mix allowable.  Also included here is guidance on new ‘build to rent’ and ‘shared 

accommodation’ (or ‘co-living’) developments6. A notable specific requirement in relation to 

‘housing mix’ in our future city development plan is the Department of Housing’s Specific 

Planning Policy Requirement 1 that states: 

 

Apartment developments may include up to 50% one-bedroom or studio type units 

(with no more than 20-25% of the total proposed development as studios) and there 

shall be no minimum requirement for apartments with three or more bedrooms. 

Statutory development plans may specify a mix for apartment and other housing 

                                                           
6
 http://www.housing.gov.ie/planning/guidelines/apartments/design-standards-new-apartments-guidelines-

planning-authorities-march 

Page 61

http://www.housing.gov.ie/planning/guidelines/apartments/design-standards-new-apartments-guidelines-planning-authorities-march
http://www.housing.gov.ie/planning/guidelines/apartments/design-standards-new-apartments-guidelines-planning-authorities-march


14 

 

developments, but only further to an evidence based Housing Need and Demand 

Assessment (HNDA), that has been agreed on an area, county, city or metropolitan 

area basis and incorporated into the relevant development plan(s). (our emphasis) 

 

Core questions: 

 

2. In Dublin City Council, do we have the correct suite of ‘Living City’ toolkit criteria 

to evaluate and assess future residential development and ensure all residential 

development delivers sustainable places for people to live in on a mixed tenure 

and mixed income basis? 

2.1 Are there community benefit and development clauses that we can rely on to 

provide beneficial local outcomes from residential development? 

2.2 Can we better deliver housing market renewal based on mixed tenure and 

mixed income residential developments in certain low-demand areas?7 

2.3 Can we better realise a Decent Homes Standard for all Dublin’s public 

housing tenants as a core driver of our estate regeneration programmes? 

2.4 Can we better protect the public asset that is delivered under Part V 

(Planning and Development Act, 2000) (as amended) arrangements for social 

housing provision in new private residential development? 

2.5 Do we have the appropriate variety and mix of residential units for our future 

population and should this be varied for different parts of t he city? 

 

Thematic issue 3:  New Affordable Housing 

 

Affordable housing is at the heart of sustainable places to live in. The pivotal determinant of 

affordable housing in owner occupation and rental relates to purchase prices and rent levels 

demanded to use and occupy the dwelling in terms of how much of a household’s net 

income is required to meet this cost. However, equally important are the long-term costs of 

residing in the dwelling provided. Therefore we must ‘build in’ affordability over the lifetime 

of a dwelling’s use but also in terms of the lifecycle stages that its residents move through 

from working households, to households with families to elderly households. We must also 

ensure affordability relates to how a dwelling works in terms of its design and adaptability.  

 

Dublin City Council is placing an emphasis on options for the public housing finance model 

required to produce new affordable housing for purchase and rental and to renew and 

renovate its existing public housing stock. This includes the challenges of financing the 

conversion of existing commercial and/ or industrial built environment to residential use 

                                                           
7
 For example recent Planning Department analysis and research suggests that two Local Area Plans (LAPs) in 

progress for Ballymun and Cherry Orchard respectively are not being adequately supported or engaged with by 
key housing market actors. 

Page 62



15 

 

(where feasible and permissible) and the re-use of vacant and derelict brown-field sites 

where land is zoned for residential development and/ or urban regeneration.  

 

Dublin City Council is also recognizing how the dynamics of housing market changes are 

creating increased demand for rental housing and in particular a form of rental housing that 

meets the needs of renter households who do not qualify for social housing but who also do 

not choose to enter owner occupation. The number of households in this ‘intermediate’ or 

‘mid-market’ rental segment is expanding in Dublin as more working households rent for 

longer periods. It is also where some of the more acute affordability and tenure security 

challenges are to be found in Dublin. To address this need Dublin City Council is seeking to 

innovate towards the delivery of cost-rental housing available on a general needs basis that 

will deliver a ‘living rent’ for the Living City. 

 

Core questions: 

 

3. In Dublin City Council, do we have an adequate assessment and understanding of 

the overall housing need and effective demand for affordable housing for rental 

and for purchase and how to respond to meeting this need? 

3.1 Can we continue to innovate to deliver affordable purchase schemes on 

public land that ‘builds in’ affordability over the lifetime of the dwelling and 

that secures the land as a public asset? 

3.2 Can we enable innovative partnerships among non-profit, private housing 

companies (i.e. Approved Housing Bodies, Trusts, Housing Cooperatives) to 

deliver quality cost-rental (i.e. ‘mid-market’) housing schemes on public land? 

3.3 Can we deliver shared equity options within cost-rental provision that do not 

interrupt security of tenure or lead to large-scale tenant purchase (e.g. ‘SSIA8’ 

type scheme for tenants equivalent to ‘rent-to-buy’ mechanisms) 

3.4 Can we ensure ‘joint ventures’ between public landowners (e.g. HSE, CIE, 

OPW), NAMA and other land holding interests (e.g. institutional lands) to 

maximize residential development for affordable purchase and social and 

mid-market rental on lands where social infrastructure, transport, health and 

education services are planned? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
8
 Special Savings Incentive Allowance 

Page 63



16 

 

6. Implementing and reviewing Dublin’s Housing Strategy to 2022 

 

The implementation and achievement of the stated objectives of the Dublin Housing 

Strategy continues to have regard to the provisions of the city development plan and its 

core strategy.  

 

However, in order to reflect emerging trends in the housing market as well as changes in 

national housing and spatial planning legislation and policy (noted in section 4 above), it is 

also recognised how it is essential for the housing strategy be kept up-to-date. To this end 

the current city development plan contains policy objective QH02 that states Dublin City 

Council will ‘undertake a review of the DCC housing strategy as part of the mandatory 2-

year review process’9.  

 

While this mandatory review process for the overall city development plan will formally 

begin from November 2018, as significant changes in Dublin’s housing market and in spatial 

planning policy have occurred, Dublin City Council is prioritising the review of its housing 

strategy and is initiating the process of review from July 2018. 

 

The review will be led by a dedicated team in the newly established Dublin Housing 

Observatory10. The team will work to produce a new analysis of the most recent data 

available in order to better comprehend today’s key drivers of, inter alia, overall housing 

need, effective housing demand, housing supply and its tenure and housing affordability 

issues across both rental and owner occupied tenures (see Annex B for outline details of 

selected forthcoming analytical work). 

                                                           
9
 Section 15 (1) and (2) of the Planning and Development Act 2000 (as amended) states: 

 S15 (1) “It shall be the duty of a planning authority to take such steps within its powers as may be 
necessary for securing the objectives of the development plan”; and, 

 S15 (2) “The manager of a planning authority shall, not more than 2 years after the making of a 
development plan, give a report to the members of the authority on the progress achieved in securing the 
objectives referred to in subsection (1).” 

Section 95 (3) (a) and (b) of the Planning and Development Act (2000) (as amended) further refers: 

 S95 (3) (a): “The report of the manager under section 15 (2) shall include a review of the progress 
achieved in implementing the housing strategy and, where the report indicates that new or revised 
housing needs have been identified, the manager may recommend that the housing strategy be 
adjusted and the development plan be varied accordingly.”  

 S95 (3) (b): “The manager of a planning authority shall, where he or she considers that there has been 
a change in the housing market, or in the regulations made by the Minister under section 100, that 
significantly affects the housing strategy, give a report on the matter to the members of the authority 
and, where he or she considers it necessary, the manager may recommend that the housing strategy 
be adjusted and the development plan be varied accordingly.” 

10
 This team is led by Dr Dáithí Downey, Head of Housing Policy, Research and Development. 

Page 64

http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/2000/en/act/pub/0030/sec0015.html#sec15
http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/2000/en/act/pub/0030/sec0100.html#sec100


17 

 

The Dublin Housing Observatory (DHO) team will work closely with the city’s Planning and 

Housing Departments and will establish working groups as required to ensure coherence 

with all relevant legislative and policy requirements for housing provision in Dublin. 

Secondly, the team will support information exchange and policy development workshops 

with members of both Dublin’s Housing and Planning Strategic Policy Committees (SPCs). A 

key task will be to consider the spectrum of the 35 housing policy objectives articulated by 

Dublin’s City Development Plan 2016-2022 (see Annex A) to ensure their overall coherence 

and relevance to the requirements of the housing strategy.  

 

Another key task will be to ensure SPC members have a comprehensive and up-to-date 

understanding of all relevant recent legislative, policy and spatial planning changes adopted 

since 2016 and that impact on Dublin’s housing strategy.  

 

It is envisaged that policy development workshops will occur from September 2018. 

 

 

 

_________________       __________________ 

Anthony Flynn       Dr Dáithí Downey 

Executive Manager       Senior Executive Officer 

Housing, Community        Housing, Community  

and Emergency Services      and Emergency Services 

 

 

July 2nd 2018 

  

Page 65



18 

 

Annex A  

Housing Policies and Objectives of Dublin City Development Plan, 2016-2022 

 

 Housing Policy Reference in Dublin City Development Plan 

 

QH1 To have regard to the DECLG Guidelines on ‘Quality Housing for Sustainable Communities – 

Best Practice Guidelines for Delivering Homes Sustaining Communities’ (2007); ‘Delivering 

Homes Sustaining Communities – Statement on Housing Policy’ (2007), ‘Sustainable Urban 

Housing: Design Standards for New Apartments’ (2015) and ‘Sustainable Residential 

Development in Urban Areas’ and the accompanying ‘Urban Design Manual: A Best Practice 

Guide’ (2009). 

QH2 To have regard to the Regional Planning Guidelines for the Greater Dublin Area and make 

provision for the scale of population growth and housing allocations outlined in these 

guidelines taking account of the Central Statistics Office Regional Population Projections 

2016 – 2031 and to have regard to any Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy that 

replaces the Regional Planning Guidelines.  

QH3 (i) To secure the implementation of the Dublin City Council Housing Strategy in accordance 

with the provision of national legislation. In this regard, 10 percent of the land zoned for 

residential uses, or for a mixture of residential and other uses, shall be reserved for the 

provision of social and/or affordable housing in order to promote tenure diversity and a 

socially inclusive city. 

(ii) To engage in active land management including the implementation of the vacant levy 

on all vacant residential and regeneration lands as set out in the Urban Regeneration and 

Housing Act 2015. 

QH4 To support proposals from the Housing Authority and other approved housing bodies and 

voluntary housing bodies in appropriate locations subject to the provisions of the 

development plan. 

QH5 To promote residential development addressing any shortfall in housing provision through 

active land management and a co-ordinated planned approach to developing appropriately 

zoned lands at key locations including regeneration areas, vacant sites and under-utilised 

sites 

QH6 To encourage and foster the creation of attractive mixed-use sustainable neighbourhoods 

which contain a variety of housing types and tenures with supporting community facilities, 

public realm and residential amenities, and which are socially mixed in order to achieve a 

socially inclusive city. 

QH7 To promote residential development at sustainable urban densities throughout the city in 

accordance with the core strategy, having regard to the need for high standards of urban 

design and architecture and to successfully integrate with the character of the surrounding 

area. 

QH8 To promote the sustainable development of vacant or under-utilised infill sites and to 

favourably consider higher density proposals which respect the design of the surrounding 

development and the character of the area. 

 

Page 66



19 

 

QH9 To require that larger schemes which will be developed over a considerable period of time 

are developed in accordance with an agreed phasing programme to ensure that suitable 

physical, social and community infrastructure is provided in tandem with the residential 

development and that substantial infrastructure is available to initial occupiers. 

QH10 To support the creation of a permeable, connected and well-linked city and discourage 

gated residential developments as they exclude and divide established communities. 

QH11 To ensure new developments and refurbishments are designed to promote safety and 

security and avoid anti-social behaviour in accordance with the Safety and Security Design 

Guidelines  

QH12 To promote more sustainable development through energy end-use efficiency, increasing 

the use of renewable energy, and improved energy performance of all new development 

throughout the city by requiring planning applications to be supported by information 

indicating how the proposal has been designed in accordance with the development 

standards set out in the development plan. 

QH13 To ensure that all new housing is designed in a way that is adaptable and flexible to the 

changing needs of the homeowner as set out in the Residential Quality Standards and with 

regard to the Lifetime Homes Guidance contained in Section 5.2 of the Department of 

Environment, Heritage and Local Government ‘Quality Housing for Sustainable 

Communities – Best Practice Guidelines for Delivering Homes Sustaining Communities’ 

(2007).  

QH14 To support the concept of independent living and assisted living for older people, to 

support the provision of specific purpose-built accommodation, and to promote the 

opportunity for older people to avail of the option of ‘downsizing’. To support the 

promotion of policies that will:  

 Encourage/promote full usage of dwellings units  

 Incentivise property owners of under-utilised dwellings to relocate to smaller age 

friendly dwellings.  

 Actively promote surrendering larger accommodation/financial contribution 

schemes without compulsion. 

QH15 To require compliance with the City Council’s policy on the taking-in-charge of residential 

developments. 

QH16 To promote efficient and effective property management in order to secure the satisfactory 

upkeep and maintenance of communal areas and facilities in the context of the Multi-Unit 

Developments Act 2011, the Property Services (Regulation) Act 2011 and the establishment 

of the Property Services Regulatory Authority.  

QH17 To support the provision of purpose-built, managed, high-quality private rented 

accommodation with a long-term horizon. 

QH18 To promote the provision of high-quality apartments within sustainable neighbourhoods by 

achieving suitable levels of amenity within individual apartments, and within each 

apartment development, and ensuring that suitable social infrastructure and other support 

facilities are available in the neighbourhood, in accordance with the standards for 

residential accommodation. 

 

Page 67



20 

 

QH19 To promote the optimum quality and supply of apartments for a range of needs and 

aspirations, including households with children, in attractive, sustainable mixed-income, 

mixed-use neighbourhoods supported by appropriate social and other infrastructure. 

QH20 To ensure apartment developments on City Council sites are models of international best 

practice and deliver the highest quality energy efficient apartments with all the necessary 

infrastructure where a need is identified, to include community hubs, sports and 

recreational green open spaces and public parks and suitable shops contributing to the 

creation of attractive, sustainable, mixed-use and mixed-income neighbourhoods. 

QH21 To ensure that new houses provide for the needs of family accommodation with a 

satisfactory level of residential amenity, in accordance with the standards for residential 

accommodation. 

QH22 To ensure that new housing development close to existing houses has regard to the 

character and scale of the existing houses unless there are strong design reasons for doing 

otherwise. 

QH23 To discourage the demolition of habitable housing unless streetscape, environmental and 

amenity considerations are satisfied, and a net increase in the number of dwelling units is 

provided in order to promote sustainable development by making efficient use of scarce 

urban land. 

QH24 To resist the loss of residential use on upper floors and actively support proposals that 

retain or bring upper floors above ground floor premises into residential use in order to 

revitalise the social and physical fabric of the city through measures such as the Living City 

Initiative and allowing scope for the residential development standards to be relaxed for 

refurbishment projects subject to the provision of good quality accommodation as outlined 

in the development standards. To proactively promote and market the Living City Initiative 

in Dublin city in order to attract and encourage investment in the city’s valuable building 

fabric within the designated Living City Initiative area. 

QH25 To encourage the re-introduction of residential use into the historic areas of the city, where 

much of the historic fabric remains intact (e.g. the Georgian and Victorian areas), provided 

development is consistent with the architectural integrity and character of such areas.  

QH26 To promote the transformation of the key regeneration areas into successful socially 

integrated neighbourhoods including those on the Main Inner City Regeneration Areas Map 

and promote area regeneration in parts of the city which require physical improvement and 

enhancement in terms of quality of life, housing and employment opportunities, including 

the Docklands. It is recognised that the nature of some housing regeneration initiatives may 

warrant the demolition of existing dwellings before proposals for new or replacement 

dwellings are agreed. 

QH27 To recognise the separate identity, culture, tradition and history of the Travelling people 

and to reduce the levels of disadvantage that Travellers experience. 

QH28 To provide a range of accommodation options for Travellers who normally reside in the 

Dublin city area and who wish to have such accommodation in accordance with the Dublin 

City Council Traveller Accommodation Programme 2014 – 2018 and as updated during the 

life of the plan. 

 

Page 68



21 

 

QH29 To support the implementation of the Homeless Action Plan Framework for Dublin and 

support related initiatives to address homelessness. 

QH30 To ensure that all proposals to provide or extend temporary homeless accommodation or 

support services shall be supported by information demonstrating that the proposal would 

not result in an undue concentration of such uses nor undermine the existing local 

economy, resident community or regeneration of an area. All such applications shall 

include: a map of all homeless services within a 500 m radius of the application site, a 

statement on the catchment area identifying whether the proposal is to serve local or 

regional demand, and a statement regarding management of the service/facility 

QH31 To support the provision of high-quality, professionally managed and purpose-built third-

level student accommodation on campuses or in appropriate locations close to the main 

campus, in the inner city or adjacent to high-quality public transport corridors and cycle 

routes, in a manner which respects the residential amenity and character of the 

surrounding area, in order to support the knowledge economy. Proposals for student 

accommodation shall comply with the ‘Guidelines for Student Accommodation’ contained 

in the development standards. 

 

 Housing Objectives in Dublin City Development Plan 

 
QH01 To undertake a study to examine the potential for existing low- to medium-density 

residential development to accommodate additional residential development in a manner 

which optimises residential density whilst respecting residential amenities.  

QH02 To undertake a review of the Dublin City Council Housing Strategy as part of the mandatory 

2-year review process. 

QH03 To instigate the design of a prototype block of age-friendly apartments for older people 

based on age-friendly design principles in conjunction with other bodies, as appropriate, in 

order to inform a model of good practice. 

QH04 To undertake a review of private rented sector models serving various population cohorts 

to inform future planning policy and standards.  

 

  

Page 69



22 

 

Annex B:  

New Analytical work to support revision of Dublin’s Housing Strategy 

 

Data Analytical Requirement 1: 

 

Population Projection for Dublin City to 2028 

 

This work requires an undertaking of population projection scenarios for Dublin up to 2028. 

This is achieved using “Demographic Component Model” (DCM), an internationally held 

best practice model for population projection that is used by the Central Statistics Office 

(CSO). The DCM methodology applies key assumptions in fertility, mortality and migration to 

project forward the population of an area per annum, per year of age and gender.  

 

Data Analytical Requirement 2: 

 

Housing Need and Effective Demand Assessment for Dublin City 

 

This work requires we undertake an estimate of the housing supply required across all 

housing tenures and forms of provision for all income deciles in Dublin’s households. This 

will require an enhancement of the approach and methodology set out by the Department 

of the Environment and Local Government in its “Housing Supply: A Model Housing 

Strategy and Step-by-Step Guide” (commonly referred to as the Louth Model). Our 

approach and methodology will entail the separation of the modelling process into the 

“Owner Occupier / Social and Affordable Model” and the “Rental Model” The principal steps 

involved in the development and application of these models are as follows: 

 Assessment of housing demand to accommodate a forecast population 

projection/target, and involves the following tasks:  

o Calculation of average household size and additional households required; 

o Estimated distribution of household disposable incomes; 

o Calculation of household disposable income distribution; 

o Assessment of average house prices/average private rental prices; 

o Calculation of projected house price bands/ private rental price bands; 

o Determination of annual income distribution of total households; 

o Determination of income distribution of annual additional households. 

 Calculation of housing affordability, involving the following tasks:  

o Application of the affordability formula (enhanced ‘Louth Model’) 

o Distribution of annual additional households and calculation of house price 

affordability/private rental affordability. 

 Calculation of anticipated affordable housing need in rental and owner occupation. 

 

Page 70


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting dated Thursday 7th June  2017 and matters arising
	2 HAP RAS & Leasing
	3 Review of Housing Strategy - Issues Paper

